Kapusta Financial Group Form ADV Part 2A Brochure



# 110 Fort Couch Road, Suite 108

# Pittsburgh, PA 15241

# 412-851-1400

# www.kapustafinancial.com

3/6/2025

## FORM ADV PART 2 BROCHURE

This brochure provides information about the qualifications and business practices of Kapusta Financial Group, CRD #123349. If you have any questions about the contents of this brochure, please contact us at 412-851-1400 or kfg@kapustafinancial.com. The information in this brochure has not been approved or verified by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") or by any state securities authority.

Kapusta Financial Group is a registered investment adviser located in Pennsylvania. Registration of an Investment Adviser does not imply any level of skill or training. The oral and written communications of an Adviser provide you with information about which you determine to hire or retain an Adviser.

Additional information about Kapusta Financial Group is also available on the SEC's website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov.

#### Material Change

Since the filling of our last annual updating amendment dated March 7, 2024, we have no material changes to report.

Currently, our brochure may be requested by contacting Bridget K. Loutzenhiser, President, at bridget@kapustafinancial.com. Our brochure is also available free of charge, on our web site, at www.kapustafinancial.com.

Additional information about Kapusta Financial Group is available by accessing the SEC's web site at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov. The SEC's web site also provides information about any persons affiliated with Kapusta Financial Group who are registered, or are required to be registered, as investment adviser representatives of the firm.

# Table of Contents

Cover Page	1
Material Change	2
Table of Contents	3
Advisory Business	4
Fees and Compensation	8
Performance-Based Fees and Side-By-Side Management	10
Types of Clients	11
Methods of Analysis, Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss	12
Disciplinary Information	17
Other Financial Industry Activities and Affiliations	
Code of Ethics	19
Brokerage Practices	20
Review of Accounts	21
Client Referrals and Other Compensation	22
Custody	23
Investment Discretion	24
Voting Client Securities	25
Financial Information	26
Privacy Policy	27

## **Advisory Business**

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 4

Kapusta Financial Group, Inc. ("KFG" or "the firm") is a registered investment adviser that was founded in 1997 by George M. Kapusta. In May 2022, Bridget K. Loutzenhiser, CFP®, became President and principal owner of the firm, and the firm's main office is located in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.

KFG offers both financial planning and asset management services to its clients for a fee. The services are offered separately to clients but serve to provide one purpose, the overall wellbeing of a client's financial situation to achieve his or her financial goals. The following is a description of the services offered by the firm:

#### **Comprehensive Financial Planning**

With its comprehensive financial planning services, KFG prepares a personalized, comprehensive analysis of a client's current financial situation based upon the information and assumptions provided by the client. The scope of the analysis will include goals, assets, liabilities, investments, insurance, tax planning, education funding, retirement planning and estate planning. KFG meets with the client for the presentation of the initial comprehensive plan and on a periodic basis thereafter, until all areas of the plan have been fully reviewed. Financial plans are based on a client's financial situation at the time KFG presents the plan, and on the financial information the client provides. A client should promptly notify KFG if any financial situation, goals, objectives, or needs change. Clients are under no obligation to act on the financial planning recommendations made by KFG. Should a client choose to act on any recommendations, the client is not obligated to implement the financial plan through KFG. A client may act on KFG's recommendations by placing securities transactions with any brokerage firm.

#### Investment Management

KFG offers non-discretionary individual portfolio management and investment supervisory services ("Investment Management"). The firm provides individualized investment advice to clients based upon the client's specific needs. Through personal consultations, KFG gathers specific financial data to develop a client's personalized profile, which includes a client's investment objectives, current financial position, risk profile, investment time horizon, tax situation and liquidity needs. KFG reviews the client's personalized profile and based upon this review, determines an appropriate asset allocation model for the client. Such model takes into account the client's existing investments, liquidity needs, portfolio goals, tax objectives and risk tolerance. KFG then recommends any necessary re-positioning of a client's investments or makes non-discretionary recommendations for new investments to implement the client's recommended asset allocation model. If a client enters into non-discretionary portfolio management agreement with KFG, KFG must obtain approval prior to executing any transactions on behalf of a client's account. A client has an unrestricted right to decline to implement any advice provided by KFG on a non-discretionary basis.

### **Retirement Planning**

Retirement planning services are offered to those clients who desire a specialized review of retirement needs. KFG reviews and analyzes all resources available to a client for retirement. Projections are made for living expenses during retirement. Income taxes, inflation and the client's needs are compared to the client's sources of retirement funds, including qualified retirement plans, Social Security, and all other available assets. Working with the client, KFG then identifies long-term savings and investment requirements. In addition, after a retirement projection is agreed upon between KFG and the client, the firm will provide an investment analysis and recommended repositioning of assets, typically using Modern Portfolio Theory, to help the client achieve the agreed upon long-term rate of return projection identified in the retirement analysis.

#### Estate Planning

In the estate planning services offered by the firm, KFG prepares a detailed plan and analysis of a client's estate as it relates to possible federal and state inheritance tax liability. The written analysis includes generic investment recommendations dealing with the client's financial concerns relating to accomplishing the client's estate planning objectives. While KFG renders agreed upon estate planning advice, the firm does not provide legal or tax advice as it relates to estate planning issues. Clients are strongly encouraged to consult with their appropriate legal and tax counselors for specific legal and tax advice relating to their estates.

#### Investment Consulting

In this more limited service, KFG will review a client's current investments and make nondiscretionary recommendations concerning possible repositioning of the client's assets based on the client's goals, risk tolerance, and time horizon. This is a one-time review at the client's request. With this limited service, KFG is not responsible for providing continuing advice regarding the client's investments, nor will the firm provide any investment performance reports. A client may or may not choose to implement KFG's investment recommendations.

### Planning by Module

In some cases, it may be appropriate for KFG to offer limited financial planning services to a client, based on a client's specific area of concern. In these cases, KFG will prepare a personalized analysis and written recommendation in a specific area of financial planning that is of particular concern to the client. This will not be a comprehensive plan but will focus on one or more of the following areas at the client's request:

- Education Funding/Planning
- Employee Benefits Analysis
- Insurance Needs Analysis
- Medicaid/Nursing Home Analysis
- Tax Reduction Strategies
- Retirement Plan Analysis for Businesses

#### **Rollover Recommendations**

Effective December 20, 2021 (or such later date as the US Department of Labor ("DOL") Field Assistance Bulletin 2018-02 ceases to be in effect), for purposes of complying with the DOL's Prohibited Transaction Exemption 2020-02 ("PTE 2020-02") where applicable, we are providing the following acknowledgment to you. When we provide investment advice to you regarding your retirement plan account or individual retirement account, we are fiduciaries within the meaning of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act and/or the Internal Revenue Code, as applicable, which are laws governing retirement accounts. The way we make money creates some conflicts with your interests, so we operate under a special rule that requires us to act in your best interest and not put our interest ahead of yours. Under this special rule's provisions, we must:

• Meet a professional standard of care when making investment recommendations (give prudent advice);

• Never put our financial interests ahead of yours when making recommendations (give loyal advice);

• Avoid misleading statements about conflicts of interest, fees, and investments;

• Follow policies and procedures designed to ensure that we give advice that is in your best interest;

Charge no more than is reasonable for our services; and

Give you basic information about conflicts of interest.

We benefit financially from the rollover of your assets from a retirement account to an account that we manage or provide investment advice, because the assets increase our assets under management and, in turn, our advisory fees. As a fiduciary, we only recommend a rollover when we believe it is in your best interest.

#### General Information Regarding Investment Advice

For any of the investment advisory services offered by KFG, the firm does not limit its investment recommendations to any specific type of product or security. A client's individual needs and objectives are analyzed to determine appropriate investments and products for the client. Since different types of investments typically involve different types of risk, the firm

conducts a risk analysis of the client and his/her overall portfolio, before recommending a certain investment. KFG manages assets on a non-discretionary basis, which means the client is always free to place restrictions on the types of investments the firm recommends for the client's portfolio. The client may also decline to implement any of the recommendations made by the firm.

In general, the firm utilizes equity investments in individual stocks, mutual funds, and exchange traded funds. KFG also provides recommendations on fixed income investments, including individual bond positions, bond mutual funds, certificates of deposit, and fixed income exchange traded funds. In addition, KFG provides advice related to real estate, leasing, or oil & gas limited partnerships, and may also provide advice on other products as appropriate for the specific client. The firm may also offer advice on non-securities products.

As part of its comprehensive approach to investment advisory services, KFG may refer clients to unaffiliated third-party service provides for specific areas for which a client may need advice. Examples of these referrals may include local CPAs or attorneys. KFG offers this referral service as a convenience to clients only, and any decision to engage a third-party service provider lies solely with the client. KFG is not responsible or liable for any of the services provided by these unaffiliated third-parties.

#### Assets Under Management

As of December 31, 2024, KFG provided continuous and regular asset management services for \$168,612,610 in client assets on a non-discretionary basis. KFG also provided advice on \$5,217,544 in client assets on a non-continuous basis.

#### Fees and Compensation

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 5

For Investment Management services, KFG charges its clients an annualized fee based on a percentage of assets under management. The firm typically requires a minimum account size of at least \$100,000, although this minimum may be achieved through the householding of multiple accounts, or it may be waived at the sole discretion of KFG.

Clients will pay a management fee based on a percentage of the fair market value of the managed assets as of the date of the Advisory Agreement. The client and KFG will agree as to the then current value of managed assets, and the client will be invoiced accordingly. Thereafter, the client will be billed a portion of the annual percentage of assets under management fee, on a quarterly basis in advance, based on the value of the managed assets as of the anniversary date of the Advisory Agreement. The value is reevaluated annually, to determine the current value of the account and the fee for the upcoming year. The client is notified, in advance, of the fee for each upcoming year. The current fee schedule for managed assets is as follows:

Assets Under Management	Amount Annual Percentage
Up to \$250,000	1.15%
\$250,001 to \$1,000,000	.90%
\$1,000,001 to \$2,500,000	.65%
\$2,5000,001 and above	.55%

Asset-Based Fees are payable quarterly. An invoice may be prepared by KFG only if fees are not debited from the client's custodian account. Clients may also give KFG express written permission to deduct fees from the client's custodial account, if a client so chooses. KFG will provide written notice to the custodian of the amount of fees to be debited. Custodians will send statements to clients at least quarterly, detailing the amount of fee debited from the client's account. Clients are responsible for verifying the accuracy of fees debited. While KFG has established the above referenced fee schedule, the firm may negotiate fees under certain, limited circumstances, at its sole discretion. Factors considered when determining whether a different fee will be negotiated include, among other things, the complexity of the client's financial situation, related accounts under management, portfolio style, and the provision of other services provided to the client. In some cases, clients may be subject to a different fee schedule in effect at the time their account was established and specified in their Advisory Agreement with KFG. These different fee schedules may be higher or lower than current fee arrangements. KFG may, in its sole discretion, determine when, if ever, previous fee schedules will or will not apply to existing clients. Clients will receive advance written notice of any change in their applicable fee schedules.

For all other advisory services described in Item 4 above, including comprehensive planning, retirement planning, estate planning, investment consulting, and planning by module, KFG will charge an hourly rate not to exceed \$250 per hour. In some cases, KFG will charge a fixed project fee not to exceed \$5,000. The client and KFG will agree to the fee methodology at the time an Advisory Agreement is executed. For hourly fees, fees will be due and payable upon presentation of an invoice. For fixed fee relationships, one-half of the fixed fee is due and payable at the execution of the Advisory Agreement and the remaining portion will be due and payable upon presentation of an invoice. All fees are negotiable at KFG's sole discretion.

#### General Information Regarding Fees and Account Termination

In addition to the advisory fees described above, clients may be subject to custodial and account fees charged by account custodians or broker/dealers with whom clients establish accounts. Such additional fees may include, but are not limited to, transaction charges, IRA fees and other account administrative fees. Please see additional disclosure made for Item 12, Brokerage Practices, later in this brochure. In cases where shares of mutual funds or exchange traded funds are included in clients' portfolios, clients may also be subject to fees and expenses charged directly by the mutual fund or exchange traded fund company. Such fees may include, but are not limited to, management fees, fund expenses, distribution fees, and 12b-1 fees. KFG does not receive any portion of these fees. Clients should refer to the applicable product prospectus for a complete discussion of the fees and charges associated with the product. While KFG endeavors to select the lowest-cost share class available for a given mutual fund, the firm cannot guarantee that the lowest cost is always purchased depending on specific client circumstances and/or mutual fund performance or other factors.

Clients have the option of purchasing investment products through any broker/dealer of their choice; however, KFG associates may be unable to provide Investment Management services for assets purchased away from custodians recommended by KFG.

As part of its comprehensive approach to investment advisory services, KFG may refer clients to unaffiliated third-party service provides for specific areas for which a client may need advice. Examples of these referrals may include local CPAs or attorneys. In these cases, clients may be subject to additional fees charged by the third-party service provider to whom the client has been referred. KFG does not receive any portion of the fees charged by these third-party service providers. In addition, KFG offers this referral service as a convenience to clients only, and any decision to engage a third-party service provider lies solely with the client. KFG is not responsible or liable for any of the services provided by these unaffiliated third-parties.

Clients may terminate Advisory Agreements at any time upon prior written notice. If an Agreement is terminated within the first five business days, clients are entitled to a full refund of any fees paid. If an Advisory Agreement is terminated after more than five business days, clients are assessed fees on a pro-rata basis, based on the number of days that investment management services were provided. Any pre-paid fees will be refunded on a pro-rata basis, based on the number of days advisory services were provided.

# Performance-Based Fees and Side-By-Side Management

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 6

KFG does not charge performance-based fees.

# **Types of Clients**

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 7

KFG provides investment advisory services to individuals, high-net worth individuals, pension and profit sharing plans, corporations or other businesses, trust, estates and charitable organizations. As described in Item 5 above, KFG typically requires a minimum account size of \$100,000 for Investment Management clients. Household accounts may be aggregated to meet this asset threshold, and this minimum may be waived at KFG's sole discretion.

#### Methods of Analysis, Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 8

KFG uses various methods of analysis in formulating the investment advice offered on behalf of the firm. KFG takes a holistic approach to evaluate an overall portfolio strategy and asset allocation that meets a client's needs and objectives. Rather than focusing on specific investments, KFG's associates identify an appropriate ratio of securities, fixed income investments, cash and other investments, to build a portfolio that is suitable for a client's investment needs, objectives and risk tolerance. KFG typically does not recommend frequent and short-term trading strategies for its clients. Portfolios are typically made up of various mutual funds, fixed income securities, and exchange traded funds. Portfolios may also include individual equity or bond positions, certificates of deposits, and variable or fixed annuity products.

KFG conducts its research on the investments it recommends using publicly available performance information. KFG utilizes Morningstar, Standard & Poors, Index Universe, The Street Ratings Report and other internet based research sites. KFG evaluates the experience and track record of product managers, to determine whether a manager has demonstrated the ability to manage assets under varying economic situations. KFG also evaluates the underlying investments in a mutual fund or exchange traded fund, to determine whether the manager invests in a manner that is consistent with the fund's investment objective. A risk associated with this type of analysis is that past performance is not a guarantee of future results. While a manager may have demonstrated a certain level of success in past economic times, he or she may not be able to replicate that success in future markets. In addition, just because a manager may have invested in a certain manner in past years, such manager may deviate from his/her strategy in future years. To mitigate this risk, KFG attempts to select investments from companies with proven track records that have demonstrated a consistent level of performance and success. KFG also relies on an assumption that the rating agencies it uses to evaluate investments is providing accurate and unbiased analysis.

KFG uses investment management strategies that it feels best meet its clients' needs and objectives. Such strategies typically include long-term investment strategies of holding investments for a year or longer. While this strategy typically meets the needs and objectives of our clients, long-term investment strategies may include the risk of not taking advantage of short-term gains that could be profitable to a client. In addition, all securities investments involve risk and clients may lose all or part of their investment. Clients who elect to invest in securities must be willing to bear this risk. For this reason, KFG takes extra care to determine an appropriate risk tolerance of its clients. Investment recommendations are made with this risk tolerance in mind.

Methods of Analysis and Investment Strategies

KFG may use one or more of the following methods of analysis or investment strategies when providing investment advice:

Fundamental Analysis - involves analyzing individual companies and their industry groups, such as a company's financial statements, details regarding the company's product line, the experience and expertise of the company's management, and the outlook for the company

and its industry. The resulting data is used to measure the true value of the company's stock compared to the current market value.

Risk: The risk of fundamental analysis is that information obtained may be incorrect and the analysis may not provide an accurate estimate of earnings, which may be the basis for a stock's value. If securities prices adjust rapidly to new information, utilizing fundamental analysis may not result in favorable performance.

Modern Portfolio Theory - a theory of investment which attempts to maximize portfolio expected return for a given amount of portfolio risk, or equivalently minimize risk for a given level of expected return, by carefully diversifying the proportions of various assets.

Risk: Market risk is that part of a security's risk that is common to all securities of the same general class (stocks and bonds) and thus cannot be eliminated by diversification.

Long-Term Purchases - securities purchased with the expectation that the value of those securities will grow over a relatively long period of time, generally greater than one year.

Risk: Using a long-term purchase strategy generally assumes the financial markets will go up in the long-term which may not be the case. There is also the risk that the segment of the market that in which one is invested, or perhaps just a particular investment, will go down over time even if the overall financial markets advance. Purchasing investments long-term may create an opportunity cost - "locking-up" assets that may be better utilized in the shortterm in other investments.

Short-Term Purchases - securities purchased with the expectation that they will be sold within a relatively short period of time, generally less than one year, to take advantage of the securities' short-term price fluctuations.

Risk: Using a short-term purchase strategy generally assumes one can predict how financial markets will perform in the short-term, which is difficult and will incur a disproportionately higher amount of transaction costs compared to long-term trading. There are many factors that can affect financial market performance in the short-term (such as short-term interest rate changes, cyclical earnings announcements, etc.) but may have a smaller impact over longer periods of times.

KFG's investment strategies and advice will vary depending upon each client's specific financial situation. KFG determines investments and allocations based on a client's predefined objectives, risk tolerance, time horizon, financial information, liquidity needs and other various suitability factors. A client's restrictions and guidelines may also affect the composition of the portfolio. Clients must immediately notify us with respect to any material changes to their financial circumstances, including for example, a change in current or expected income level, tax circumstances, or employment status.

# Tax Considerations

KFG's strategies and investments may have tax implications. Regardless of account size or any other factors, KFG strongly recommends that clients consult with a tax professional regarding the investing of assets. Custodians and broker-dealers must report the cost basis of equities acquired in client accounts. A custodian will default to the First-In First-Out ("FIFO") accounting method for calculating the cost basis of investments. Clients are responsible for contacting their tax advisor to determine if this accounting method is the right choice for them. If a client's tax advisor believes another accounting method is more advantageous, the client should provide written notice to KFG immediately, so that KFG can alert the account custodian of the client's selected accounting method. Decisions about cost basis accounting methods will need to be made before trades settle, as the cost basis method cannot be changed after settlement.

#### Artificial Intelligence Risk:

We may use artificial intelligence ("AI") in our business operations, in order to promote operational efficiency and augment our client service. We currently do not knowingly utilize AI in our investment selection process or to formulate the specific investment advice we render to you. Al models are highly complex and may result in output that is incomplete or incorrect. Our use of AI includes certain third-party technologies aimed at driving operational efficiency by automating meeting prep, meeting notes, CRM updates, meeting recap notes, task management, and other client service-related functions. We believe the use of this technology allows us to reduce administrative time, prepare for client engagement, and improve overall client experience. The use of AI poses risks related to the challenges the Company faces in properly managing its use. Content generated by AI technologies may be deficient, inaccurate, or biased, and the use of AI tools may lead to errors in decision-making. Use of AI tools could also pose risks related to the protection of client or proprietary information. Such risks may include the exposure of confidential information to unauthorized recipients, violation of data privacy rights, or other data leakage events. For example, in the case of generative AI, if confidential information, including material non-public information or personal identifiable information is input into an AI application, such information is at risk of becoming part of a dataset accessible by other AI applications and users. The regulatory environment relating to AI is rapidly evolving and could require changes in our adoption and implementation of AI technology in the future. The use of AI may also expose us to litigation risk or regulatory risk.

#### Risk of Loss

Investing in securities involves risk of loss that investors must be prepared to bear. KFG does not represent or guarantee that services or methods of analysis can or will predict future results, successfully identify market tops or bottoms, or insulate clients from losses due to market corrections or declines. KFG cannot offer any guarantees or promises that a client's financial goals and objectives will be met. Past performance is in no way an indication of future performance.

#### **Other Risk Considerations**

When evaluating risk, financial loss may be viewed differently by each client and may depend on many different risks, each of which may affect the probability and magnitude of any potential loss. The following risks may not be all-inclusive, but should be considered carefully by a prospective client before retaining KFG's services.

Liquidity Risk: The risk of being unable to sell an investment at a fair price at a given time due to high volatility or lack of active liquid markets. An investor may receive a lower price or it may not be possible to sell the investment at all.

Credit Risk: Credit risk typically applies to debt investments such as corporate, municipal, and sovereign fixed income or bonds. A bond issuing entity can experience a credit event that could impair or erase the value of an issuer's securities held by a client.

Inflation and Interest Rate Risk: Security prices and portfolio returns will likely vary in response to changes in inflation and interest rates. Inflation causes the value of future dollars to be worth less and may reduce the purchasing power of a client's future interest payments and principal. Inflation also generally leads to higher interest rates which may cause the value of many types of fixed income investments to decline.

Horizon and Longevity Risk: The risk that an investment horizon is shortened because of an unforeseen event, for example, the loss of a job. This may force an investor to sell investments that were expected to be held for the long term. If an investor must sell at a time markets are down, he/she may lose money. Longevity Risk is the risk of outliving savings. This risk is particularly relevant for people who are retired, or are nearing retirement.

#### **Recommendation of Particular Types of Securities**

KFG primarily recommends mutual funds and exchange traded funds. However, KFG also provides advice on other types of investments as appropriate, since each client has different needs and different tolerance for risk. Each type of security has its own unique set of risks associated with it and it would not be possible to list here all of the specific risks of every type of investment. Even within the same type of investment, risks can vary widely. However, in general terms, the higher the anticipated return of an investment, the higher the risk of loss associated with the investment.

Money Market Funds: A money market fund is technically a security. The fund managers attempt to keep the share price constant at \$1/share. However, there is no guarantee that the share price will stay at \$1/share. If the share price goes down, an investor can lose some or all of their principal. In return for this risk, an investor should earn a greater return on cash than one would expect from a Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insured savings account (money market funds are not FDIC insured). Money market fund rates are variable and the rate could go up or go down. Because money market funds are considered to be safer than other investments like stocks, long-term average returns on money market funds tend to be less than long term average returns on riskier investments. Over long periods of time, inflation can impact returns.

Stocks: There are numerous ways of measuring the risk of equity securities (also known simply as "equities" or "stock"). In broad terms, the value of a stock depends on the financial health of the company issuing it. However, stock prices can be affected by many other factors including, but not limited to, the class of stock (for example, preferred or common); the health of the market sector of the issuing company; and, the overall health of the economy. In

general, larger, better established companies ("large cap") tend to be safer than smaller startup companies ("small cap") are but the mere size of an issuer is not, by itself, an indicator of the safety of the investment.

Mutual Funds and Exchange Traded Funds: Mutual funds and exchange traded funds ("ETF") are professionally managed collective investment systems that pool money from many investors and invest in stocks, bonds, short-term money market instruments, other mutual funds, other securities, or any combination thereof. The fund will have a manager that trades the fund's investments in accordance with the fund's investment objective. While mutual funds and ETFs generally provide diversification, risks can increase if the fund is concentrated in a particular sector of the market, primarily invests in small cap or speculative companies, uses leverage (i.e., borrows money) to a significant degree, or concentrates in a particular type of security (i.e., equities) rather than balancing the fund with different types of securities. ETFs differ from mutual funds since they can be bought and sold throughout the day like stock and their price can fluctuate throughout the day. The returns on mutual funds and ETFs can be reduced by the costs to manage the funds. Some mutual funds are "no load" and charge no fee to buy into, or sell out of, the fund, while other types of mutual funds charge fees that can reduce returns. Mutual funds can be "closed end" or "open end". Open end mutual funds continue to allow in new investors indefinitely, whereas closed end funds have a fixed number of shares which can limit their availability to new investors.

ETFs may have tracking error risks. For example, the ETF investment adviser may not be able to cause the ETF's performance to match that of its underlying index or other benchmark, which may negatively affect the ETF's performance. In addition, for leveraged and inverse ETFs that seek to track the performance of their underlying indices or benchmarks on a daily basis, mathematical compounding may prevent the ETF from correlating with performance of its benchmark. In addition, an ETF may not have investment exposure to all of the securities included in its underlying index, or its weighting of investment exposure to such securities may vary from that of the underlying index. Some ETFs may invest in securities or financial instruments that are not included in the underlying index, but which are expected to yield similar performance.

# **Disciplinary Information**

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 9

Registered investment advisers are required to disclose all material facts regarding any legal or disciplinary events that would be material to your evaluation of KFG or the integrity of KFG's management. KFG has no reportable information applicable to this Item.

# Other Financial Industry Activities and Affiliations

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 10

In some cases, KFG associates may refer clients to a third-party service provider for specific services. KFG associates are not compensated for these referrals. KFG associates make these referrals when they feel it is in the client's best interest to do so, based on the specific needs and objectives of the client. Clients are under no obligation to engage the services of the third-party service provider and clients do so at their own discretion. KFG is not liable or responsible for any of the services provided by an unaffiliated third-party service provider.

#### Code of Ethics, Participation or Interest in Client Transactions and Personal Trading

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 11

KFG has adopted a Code of Ethics to promote the principles of honesty and integrity in its business practices, and to maintain KFG's reputation as a firm that operates with the highest level of professionalism. KFG recognizes its fiduciary responsibilities to its clients, and its duty and pledge to place clients' interests first and foremost. In connection with this duty, all employees of KFG are subject to the firm's Code of Ethics, and are required to acknowledge their understanding of its terms. A copy of the KFG Code of Ethics will be provided to any client or prospective client upon request.

KFG's Code of Ethics establishes procedures for employees to report personal securities transactions and personal securities holdings. The Code sets forth procedures for management review of these reports. In some cases, KFG's employees may be required to obtain pre-approval for certain personal securities transactions or refrain from certain transactions altogether. KFG's Code of Ethics also sets forth the obligation of all KFG employees to comply with applicable state and federal securities laws, and the duty to cooperate in any investigation or inquiry conducted on or by KFG. Finally, KFG's Code of Ethics establishes procedures for the reporting of any potential violation of the firm's Code.

KFG or its owners, officers and employees may buy or sell securities that are the same or different than those they recommend to clients. While buying or selling the same security as a client would be incidental, it may represent a potential conflict of interest, which would be fully disclosed to the client. KFG or its owners, officers and employees may not sell securities from their accounts directly to a client, nor may they purchase securities directly from a client. KFG, its owners, officers and employees are prohibited from trading on material nonpublic information. KFG does not trade ahead of clients, but instead puts clients' interests first. Employees may not purchase or sell any security prior to a transaction being implemented for an advisory client, unless the timing of such transaction was done without the employee's knowledge of a client's transaction. KFG endeavors to ensure that the personal trading activities of its owners, officers and employees do not interfere with the decision making process for client investment recommendations. KFG also endeavors to ensure that the personal trading activities of its owners, officers and employees do not interfere with the implementation of investment recommendations made to clients.

KFG prohibits its owners, officers, and employees from participating in any principal transactions, where securities are purchased directly from, or sold directly to a client. KFG also prohibits its owners, officers and employees from purchasing shares in initial public offerings or private placement offerings, unless express written permission is provided in advance, by the firm's Chief Compliance Officer. KFG, its owners, officers and employees, do not recommend to clients that they buy or sell securities in which a person associated with KFG has a material financial interest.

#### **Brokerage Practices**

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 12

KFG provides investment advisory services on a non-discretionary basis. As such, clients are free to implement or decline investment recommendations made by KFG associates. In addition, clients are free to implement investment recommendations at firms of their choice; however, if clients choose to implement transactions at firms other than those recommended by KFG associates, KFG may be unable to provide investment advisory services for those assets.

For Investment Management clients, KFG recommends that clients execute recommended brokerage transactions through Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. ("Schwab"). Clients are fully informed that they may execute transactions or implement recommendations through any broker/dealer or insurance company of their choice; however, if a client engages KFG for investment management services, Schwab will be used. Schwab is an unaffiliated SEC registered broker/dealer and FINRA member. Schwab offers independent investment advisers' access to services that include custody of securities, trade execution, and clearance and settlement of transactions. While KFG cannot guarantee that the execution services provided by Schwab are the best executions available, the firm feels that that the overall quality of execution services provided by Schwab is in the clients' best interests.

As stated previously, KFG does not maintain discretionary control over client accounts and cannot, therefore, select broker/dealers for clients. However, the firm routinely recommends that clients utilize the brokerage and custodial services offered by Schwab, unlike other advisors who may permit clients to direct brokerage. KFG is unable to negotiate specific transaction costs for transaction execution. Transactions executed by Schwab will be subject to the transaction and commission fee schedule in effect at the time of execution. KFG does not negotiate commission rates or volume discounts. Therefore, brokerage and investment advisory services offered by KFG may cost a client more or less than similar investment advisory services offered by another firm, or by purchasing similar services separately.

KFG does not have any soft-dollar arrangements and does not receive any soft-dollar benefits. Through their affiliation with Schwab, KFG associates have access to free research, software, account administrative support, record keeping, brokerage, custodial and other related services that are intended to support advisers in conducting an investment advisory business. KFG associates also have access to an extensive list of product offerings from which client recommendations can be made, and may have the ability to execute client noload or low-load mutual fund transactions without transaction charges or with nominal transaction charges.

KFG associates may receive marketing support or reimbursement for marketing costs, such as expenses related to meetings held by, or attended by KFG associates. This support is not conditioned upon the placement or execution of client transactions. KFG does not recommend broker/dealers in order to receive client referrals from such broker/dealers. KFG does not typically aggregate the purchase or sale of securities for various client accounts.

#### **Review of Accounts**

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 13

<u>Comprehensive Financial Planning</u>: Following meetings with a client, a comprehensive financial plan requires approximately one month to complete. Before the final report is presented, KFG will meet with the client to review all assumptions and information provided by the client. When appropriate, and only with a client's permission, KFG may request that outside professionals (i.e. legal and tax) review portions of the plan. KFG will meet with the client for the presentation of the initial comprehensive plan. KFG and the client will continue to meet on a periodic basis until all areas of the plan have been fully reviewed.

<u>Investment Management</u>: KFG associates will review assets under management at least quarterly or at the request of the client. Reviews may occur more frequently when the securities markets or economic conditions warrant such reviews. KFG will prepare quarterly, semi-annual or annual performance statements for each client, which list all assets, account values and rates of returns. Clients will also receive regular and periodic reports from the custodians at which their assets are held. Clients are encouraged to compare the information provided by KFG against the statements provided by the custodian. In the event of a discrepancy, the information provided on the custodial statements will prevail.

<u>Planning by Module</u>: This service focuses on a specific segment of a comprehensive financial plan. Clients who elect this service should periodically contact KFG to schedule a planning segment. KFG will not regularly review a client's financial situation after the initial performance of the agreed upon services.

<u>Retirement Planning, Investment Consulting and Estate Planning</u>: These services are completed at the time of the presentation of the analysis to the client. These services are considered to be one-time in nature. Clients who elect these services are responsible for requesting additional services and support. If KFG becomes aware of any material changes in the client's situation, KFG may contact the client to recommend a review; however, the firm is under no obligation to do so.

# **Client Referrals and Other Compensation**

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 14

In some cases, KFG associates may refer clients to a third-party service provider for specific services. KFG associates are not compensated for these referrals. KFG associates make these referrals when they feel it is in the client's best interest to do so, based on the specific needs and objectives of the client. Clients are under no obligation to engage the services of the third-party service provider and clients do so at their own discretion. KFG is not liable or responsible for any of the services provided by an unaffiliated third-party service provider.

KFG does not receive any compensation from any third party in connection with providing investment advice, nor does the firm compensate any individual or firm for client referrals.

## Custody

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 15

KFG does not maintain custody of client funds or securities, except to the extent that it has the ability to debit advisory fees directly from client accounts, as agreed to in writing by the client. KFG is also deemed to have custody by virtue of the fact that the firm allows clients to initiate standing letters of authorization for asset movement in custodial accounts. Client accounts are held at qualified custodians and KFG complies with rules and regulations for firms with this type of custody. Clients receive normal and customary custodial account statements that detail the advisory fees debited. Clients are encouraged to review custodial statements carefully to verify the accuracy of all fees. Clients are also encouraged to compare information provided on custodial statements with information provided on reports prepared by KFG.

#### Asset Transfer and/or Standing Letter of Authorization

KFG, or persons associated with KFG, may affect asset transfers from client accounts to one or more third parties designated, in writing, by the client without obtaining written client consent for each separate, individual transaction, as long as the client has provided written authorization to do so. Such written authorization is known as a Standing Letter of Authorization. An adviser with authority to conduct such third-party wire transfers has access to the client's assets, and therefore has custody of the client's assets in any related accounts.

KFG is not required to obtain a surprise annual audit, as would otherwise be required by reason of having custody, as long as the firm meets the following criteria:

- 1. Client provides a written, signed instruction to the qualified custodian that includes the third party's name and address or account number at a custodian;
- 2. Client authorizes KFG in writing to direct transfers to the third party either on a specified schedule or from time to time;
- 3. Client's qualified custodian verifies the authorization (e.g., signature review) and provides a transfer of funds notice to you promptly after each transfer;
- 4. Client can terminate or change the instruction;
- 5. KFG has no authority or ability to designate or change the identity of the third party, the address, or any other information about the third party;
- 6. KFG maintains records showing that the third party is not a related party to the firm nor located at the same address as the firm; and
- 7. Client's qualified custodian sends client, in writing, an initial notice confirming the instruction and an annual notice reconfirming the instruction.

KFG meets the above criteria.

# **Investment Discretion**

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 16

KFG does not accept discretionary authority to manage securities accounts on behalf of clients. KFG will obtain a client's approval prior to the execution of any transactions for an account(s). Clients have an unrestricted right to decline to implement any advice provided by our firm on a non-discretionary basis.

# **Voting Client Securities**

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 17

KFG does not accept authority to vote client securities on behalf of clients. Clients retain all rights to their brokerage accounts, including the right to vote proxies. Clients are responsible for directing each custodian of their assets to forward copies of all proxies and shareholder communications directly to the client. While KFG may provide information or consultation to assist a client in deciding how to vote a particular security, the ultimate decision and responsibility to vote a security lies with the client.

# Financial Information

Form ADV Part 2A, Item 18

KFG does not require or solicit prepayment of more than \$1,200 in advisory fees more than six months in advance of services rendered. KFG is therefore not required to include a financial statement or balance sheet with this brochure.

KFG does not have any financial condition that is reasonably likely to impair its ability to meet contractual commitments to clients. KFG has not been the subject of any bankruptcy petition.

#### **Privacy Policy**

KFG maintains a specific Privacy Policy that is distributed to each client at the time an account is opened and if the policy is amended. KFG collects nonpublic information about clients from the following sources: information the firm receives from clients verbally, on applications or other forms and information about client transactions with others or the firm.

KFG may have to share non-public client information with unaffiliated firms in order to service client accounts. Additionally, KFG may have to provide information about clients to regulatory agencies as required by law. Otherwise, KFG will not disclose any client information to an unaffiliated entity unless a client has given express permission for the firm to do so.

KFG is committed to protecting client privacy. The firm restricts access to clients' personal and account information to those employees who need to know the information. KFG also maintains physical, electronic and procedural safeguards that the firm believes comply with Federal standards to protect against threats to the safety and integrity of client records and information.